IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STAE OF WASHINGTOBY BUSINN L. CARLSON REVIEW-No. 79825-7-I. PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A COURT OF APPECLERK DECISION (RULES ON APPEAL 13.1-13.5) TERMINATING REVIEW. The Case of Mr. Joel Christopher Holmes, 4700 12TH Avenue, Northeast, #204, (206)-898-9744, nelsevrian@gmail.com, antalfoods@yahoo.com, Plaintiff/ Appellant, VERSUS, The City of Seattle, Seattle Human Rights Commission, 700 Central Building, 800 Third Avenue, Seattle, 98104, Defendant-Appellee. Defendant's Attorney: The City of Seattle City Attorney, Hon. Peter G. Holmes, Seattle City Attorney, Ms. Cynthia Diane Williams, Assistant City Attorney, 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite #2050, Seattle, Washington, 98104

X	COA entrance>
Buildin entrance^^^^^^^	g
Exterior atrium	<building entrance<="" td=""></building>
X	///////
Outdoor Plaza	<exterior stairs<="" td=""></exterior>

ARGUMENT: I. THE SUPERIOR COURT, retained inherent jurisdiction to hear the Administrative Appeal of a City of Seattle agency Ruling or Decision Apparently, counsel for Respondent City of Seattle, still believes that an administrative appeal, is a privilege, similar to the relief sought back in 1894, by the Petitioner in McKane v. Durston, loc cit., 153 U.S. 684 at 688 et seq (1894). But courts have long moved past that point. See, e.g., Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 18-19, 76 S.Ct. 585, 100 L.Ed. 891 (1956) (right to trial transcript in criminal appeal); Hunter v. North Mason High School & North Mason School District No. 403, 85 Wn.2d 810, 818-819, 539 P.2d 845 (1975) (overruling of non-claim statute used to bar suit against public school district). A trial or an appeal, even in an action against the State or against one of its constituent cities, is NOT a privilege unilaterally granted litigants, by favor of the State of Washington. State v. Sweet, supra, 90 Wn.2d 282 at 290 (1978); Petersen v. State, supra, 100 Wn.2d 421, 423, 444-46 (1983) (right to sue state agency). There is NO rational reason, to grant a right to sue, ONLY State, and NOT parallel City or County agencies. Furthermore, under Wash. Const., Article XI, Section 11, a City agency, such as the Seattle [Mayor's] Office for "Human [sic] Rights," can only enforce the same corresponding laws as does the State of Washington. City of Auburn v. Gauntt, 174 Wn.2d 321, 274 P.3d 1033, 1035-38 (2012) (municipal enforcement of state-level criminal statute). Pet., does NOT have to (and CANNOT, see e.g. RAP 16.1-16.4), file some "special" Habeas Corpus writ (RCW 7.16), order to appeal an agency decision to superior court.

- 1. SMC 14.06.090, is too vague. If it be held otherwise by the City, then the cited passage, written in SMC 14.06.090, namely "any party ... may appeal the order on the record to an appropriate [sic] court," must be stricken, because the phrase, "an appropriate court," either is meaningless, or is subject to widely varying interpretations, as occurred here in the cases at bar. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678, 682-88 (20080 (vagueness of parole conditions); State v. Halstein, 122 Wn.2d 109, 117, 857 P.2d 270 (1989) (vagueness of municipal ordinance); EEOC v. Catastrophe Mgt. Solutions, 852 F.3d 1018, 1022, 1156, 1172 (11TH Circuit (AL) (2016)) ("immutable" characteristics under Title VII of 1964 "'Civil Rights'" Act).
- 2. Court of Appeals Personal Restraint Petition No. 77123-0-I. Pet. promptly filed, during the month of August 2017, the type of "Writ" the Court of Appeals below is apparently demanding in this Case. Order Terminating Review, No. 79285-7-I, at 2-3 & notes.
- II. Equal Protection. As noted before, there exists **NO** reason to permit direct appeals to the Superior Court, for litigants filing under one type of "non-discrimination" law (RCW 49.60), while denying this right, to aggrieved parties under the City of Seattle ordinance [SMC 14.06.090]. <u>Andersen v. King County</u>, 158 Wn.2d 1, 44, 138 P.3d 963 (2006) (Madsen, C.J.) ("rational basis" test used to deny validity of legal "same-sex" marriage).

III. Division I of the Court of Appeals, **should not** have heard a controversy involving their own Landlord, Washington Real Estate Holdings, LLC. See e.g., <u>Marriage of [Nathan] Choi & Choi</u> (No. 78383-1-I (April 22, 2019)) (change-of-venue denied to former state judicial candidate).

IV. The Washington Court of Appeals, Division One, improperly imposed a \$200.00 "filing fee" (RCW 2.36.030), in a case that Court had previously agreed to hear <u>In Forma Pauperis (12-12-18)</u>. In any event, the continued indigency of Petitioner, has not changed, and the fee is merely imposed here to chill debate. State v. Ramirez, supra, 191 Wn.2d 732 at 735 (2018); <u>State v. Blazina</u>, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 600 (2015) (Madsen, J.) (remission of appellate costs in criminal case).

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: RELIEF REQUESTED. The Administrative Appeal, previously filed by the Appellant/Petitioner, should be re-instated by the Supreme Court. S/O, JOEL C. HOLMES, <u>Pro Se, 5:18PM, PST, 12/04/2019.</u>

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE. PETITIONER Certifies that the Word Count, is approximately 2609 words (not counting excluded portions).

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE. PETITIONER Certifies that he Served Hon. Peter G. Holmes, Seattle City Attorney, Cynthia Diane Williams, Assistant City Attorney, Seattle Municipal Tower, 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050, Seattle, WA, 98104, pete.holmes@seattle.gov, cindi.williams@seattle.gov, VIA First-Class USPS Mail, electronic service, third-party commercial carrier, or other means, with one true copy of Petitioner's Petition for [Discretionary] Review, Court of Appeals # 79825-7-I, this day the fourth of December, 2019, at 5:24 PM, PST. BY: Joel C. Holmes, Pro Se, December 04, 2019, 5:25 PM, PDT.

\$200.00 Washington State Court of Appeals "filing fee." Petitioner will pay this "fee," as soon as the Washington Court of Appeals or the Washington State Supreme Court, demand this amount **on the record** of this Petition or Appeal. S/O, JOEL C. HOLMES, Pro Se, 12/04/2019.

FILED 11/12/2019 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOEL CHRISTOPHER HOLMES,

No. 79285-7-I

Appellant,

DIVISION ONE

٧.

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

CITY OF SEATTLE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION,

Respondent.

FILED: November 12, 2019

Chun, J. — Joel Holmes filed a charge with the Seattle Office of Civil Rights (SOCR), alleging discrimination in violation of Seattle's Public Accommodations Ordinance. The SOCR found no reasonable cause. The Seattle Human Rights Commission (SHRC) denied Holmes's appeal of the SOCR decision. Holmes then sought judicial review in superior court by filing an administrative appeal. Determining the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) does not govern the SHRC, the superior court dismissed Holmes's action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Holmes appealed the superior court's ruling. This court asked the parties to address the appealability of the superior court's decision as well as the merits of the appeal. We determine Holmes may appeal the decision as of right, but conclude the superior court properly dismissed the action. Accordingly, we affirm.

I. <u>BACKGROUND</u>

A. SOCR Investigation

Holmes filed a charge with the SOCR on August 29, 2017. He alleged that Washington Holdings LLC and Union Square Liability Company discriminated against him on the basis of race when a security guard asked him to leave the lobby of the One Union Square building. Holmes argued that this violated Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) 14.06, which prohibits unfair public accommodations practices.

The SOCR conducted an investigation into Holmes's charge. On February 28, 2018, the SOCR issued its Findings of Fact and Determination.

The SOCR determined no reasonable cause existed to believe that SMC 14.06 had been violated.

B. SHRC Proceedings

Holmes appealed the SOCR's finding of no reasonable cause to the SHRC on March 15, 2018. The SHRC considered whether the SOCR conducted an adequate investigation and whether a preponderance of the evidence supported the SOCR Findings. Determining both in the affirmative, the SHRC denied Holmes's appeal on July 2, 2018.

C. Superior Court Proceedings

On July 19, 2018, Holmes sought judicial review of the SHRC Order at King County Superior Court by filing an administrative appeal.

SHRC moved to dismiss the appeal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on August 28, 2018. SHRC asserted that SMC 3.02 (Administrative Code)

governs the SHRC and that Holmes could not pursue an administrative appeal under the APA or RCW 49.60 (Washington Law Against Discrimination) because the SHRC is not a state agency or commission. Additionally, SHRC argued that Holmes had not filed a petition for a writ of review under RCW 7.16 (Certiorari, Mandamus, and Prohibition under Special Proceedings and Actions), and that the trial court could not issue one even if he had because he could pursue other remedies—namely, through a private right of action under SMC 14.06.040(A).

Holmes, representing himself, filed a memorandum in response on October 16, 2018. Holmes claimed that defects in the form of an appeal do not affect the court's subject matter jurisdiction.

On October 26, 2018, the trial court granted the SHRC's motion and dismissed Holmes's case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The court determined "that it did not have jurisdiction over the [SHRC] because the SHRC is not an 'agency' for the purpose of an administrative appeal."

D. Court of Appeals Proceedings

On November 21, 2018, Holmes appealed the trial court's order granting respondent's motion to dismiss.

On December 12, 2018, this court sent a letter to the parties stating, "It appears that the order appealed from is not reviewable as of right pursuant to RAP 2.2(a)." The court set a hearing for January 4, 2019, and told the parties that they should address the issue in writing prior to the hearing. The parties' initial responses relied on the same arguments they raised at the superior court.

On January 4, 2019, following the hearing, a commissioner of this court entered a notation ruling directing the SHRC to "file supplemental briefing addressing the applicability, if any, of SMC 14.06.120(D), as well as what, if any, procedures exist for a party to seek review of a decision of the [SHRC]."

The SHRC filed supplemental briefing on January 17, 2019. The SHRC noted that while SMC 14.06.120(D) does not apply because it concerns the appeal process for charges where the SOCR found reasonable cause of discrimination, SMC 14.06.090 applies because it addresses the procedure after the SHRC affirmed a no reasonable cause determination. The SHRC acknowledged that its previous argument that Holmes could not seek a writ of review under RCW 7.16 was incorrect because it rendered provisions of SMC 14.06 inconsistent with each other and rendered the appeal right of SMC 14.06.090 superfluous. Still, the SHRC asserted that the superior court order is not reviewable as of right, because while Holmes could obtain a writ under RCW 7.16, review would be discretionary.

On April 2, 2019, a commissioner referred the issue of appealability to a panel:

Neither party has cited authority addressing the issue of appealability in a situation comparable to this one. Accordingly, the issue of appealability is referred to a panel of judges for consideration based on the existing briefing, along with whether review is warranted under RAP 2.3(b) or (d) and the merits if the panel deems it appropriate.

On October 16, 2019, we asked the parties to file supplemental briefs addressing the merits of the appeal—i.e., "whether the superior court erred by dismissing Holmes's action for lack of jurisdiction."

II. ANALYSIS

A. Appealability

The threshold issue before us regards whether Holmes may appeal the superior court order as of right.

RAP 2.2 lists the various superior court decisions that a party may appeal as of right. Under RAP 2.2(a)(1), a party may appeal a final judgment. "A final judgment is an order that adjudicat[es] all the claims, counts, rights, and liabilities of all the parties." Rose v. Fritz, 104 Wn. App. 116, 120, 15 P.3d 1062 (2001) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Where an appeal is filed under the APA, "[a]n aggrieved party may secure appellate review of any final judgment of the superior court under this chapter by the supreme court or court of appeals. The review shall be secured in the manner provided by law for review of superior court decisions in other civil cases." RCW 34.05.526.

Here, the superior court dismissed Holmes's action with prejudice, thereby adjudicating all the claims, counts, rights, and liabilities of all the parties.

Because appeals from final judgments in APA actions are treated as any other appeal of a superior court final judgment, the superior court's decision dismissing Holmes's action constitutes a final order that he may appeal as a matter of right.

B. Merits of Dismissal

We next consider whether the superior court properly dismissed Holmes's action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Because Holmes sought judicial review under the APA, we determine the court properly dismissed the appeal.

We review de novo a trial court's ruling on subject matter jurisdiction.

Banowsky v. Backstrom, 193 Wn.2d 724, 731, 445 P.3d 543 (2019).

Under the APA, "[a] person has standing to obtain judicial review of agency action if that person is aggrieved or adversely affected by the agency action." RCW 34.05.530. The APA defines "agency," as "any state board, commission, department, institution of higher education, or officer, authorized by law to make rules or to conduct adjudicative proceedings, except those in the legislative or judicial branches." RCW 34.05.010(2). "The legislature did not intend this definition to include local agencies . . . that are not concerned with statewide programs or that are not a part of a statewide system." Riggins v. Housing Authority of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 97, 101, 549 P.2d 480 (1976). The SHRC constitutes a local agency. Seattle Newspaper-Web Pressmen's Union Local No. 26 v. Seattle, 24 Wn. App. 462, 467, 604 P.2d 170 (1979).

Holmes sought judicial reviews in superior court under the APA. But because the SHRC is a local agency, the APA does not govern it.¹ Accordingly,

¹ We note that Holmes could have pursued an appeal of the SHRC decision to the superior court by filing a writ of review. Under SMC 14.06.090, "Any party aggrieved by the final dismissal may appeal the order on the record to an appropriate court." Although SMC 14.06.090 enables an appeal of a final dismissal, the Ordinance does not provide a procedure for doing so. See SMC 14.06. The Administrative Code that governs agencies of the City of Seattle (SMC 3.02) also does not provide any guidance. When a party does not have an adequate remedy of law to obtain review of a decision, they may seek a writ of review pursuant to RCW 7.16, which permits courts to grant writs of review when no other adequate remedy at law exists. See RCW 7.16.040. Accordingly, a party aggrieved by a SHRC decision affirming a SOCR no reasonable cause determination and dismissing their charge may seek review by filing a writ of review with the superior court. Though the SHRC originally argued that the superior court could not grant a writ of review under these circumstances, it concedes on appeal that such a writ is available assuming the party meets the criteria.

we determine the superior court did not err by dismissing Holmes's administrative appeal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.²

Affirmed.

WE CONCUR:

Andrus J

² With respect to the appeal's merits, Holmes bases two of his arguments in his supplemental briefing on his appeal being administrative; these arguments fail because an appeal of a SHRC decision is not administrative. Additionally, Holmes's argument that the Superior Court must hear his appeal because he was threatened with jail for his previous attempts to enter One Union Square lacks merit. Finally, Holmes asserts that a writ cannot constitute the only means for appealing a SHRC decision because "such 'writs' are limited to 'extreme' cases and circumstances." This claim also lacks merit.

From: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK

To: "Joel Holmes"; antalfoods@yahoo.com; Williams, Cindi; peter.holmes@seattle.gov; Tom Kummerow;

<u>div1motions@courts.wa.gov;</u> <u>Johnson, Richard;</u> <u>richard.warner@seattle.gov;</u> <u>Richard Conlin;</u>

council@kingcounty.gov; council@seattle.gov; o"donnell.court@kingcounty.gov; Court, Galvan; KOMO

Newsroom; roger.goodman@leg.wa.gov; Luke Swinney; Erika.Pablo@seattle.gov; liamjmcgivernlaw@gmail.com

Subject: RE: IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STAE OF WASHINGTON.pdf

Date: Thursday, December 5, 2019 8:27:01 AM

Received 12-5-19.

From: Joel Holmes [mailto:nelsevrian@gmail.com] **Sent:** Wednesday, December 4, 2019 5:46 PM

To: OFFICE RECEPTIONIST, CLERK <SUPREME@COURTS.WA.GOV>; Joel Holmes

<nelsevrian@gmail.com>; antalfoods@yahoo.com; Williams, Cindi <Cindi.Williams@seattle.gov>;
peter.holmes@seattle.gov; Tom Kummerow <tom@washapp.org>; div1motions@courts.wa.gov;
Johnson, Richard <richard.johnson@courts.wa.gov>; richard.warner@seattle.gov; Richard Conlin

<richardbyrdconlin@gmail.com>; council@kingcounty.gov; council@seattle.gov;

o'donnell.court@kingcounty.gov; Court, Galvan <Galvan.Court@kingcounty.gov>; KOMO Newsroom

<tips@komo4news.com>; roger.goodman@leg.wa.gov; Luke Swinney

<luke.swinney@co.thurston.wa.us>; Erika.Pablo@seattle.gov; liamjmcgivernlaw@gmail.com

Subject: IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STAE OF WASHINGTON.pdf