FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/3/2020 11:46 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97934-1 Court of Appeals No. 79285-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION,

Respondent,

v.

JOEL HOLMES,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES Seattle City Attorney

CINDI WILLIAMS, WSBA #27654 Assistant City Attorney Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle Human Rights Commission

Seattle City Attorney's Office 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 684-8200

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Supreme Court should not accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

¹⁴ Appendix 9, Court of Appeals Letter dated December 12, 2018.

¹⁵ Appendix 10, Court of Appeals Letter Regarding Notation Ruling dated January 4, 2019.

¹⁶ Appendix 11, Court of Appeals Letter Regarding Notation Ruling dated April 2, 2019.

¹⁷ Appendix 12, Court of Appeals Letter Regarding Notation Ruling dated October 17, 2019.

¹⁸ Holmes v. City of Seattle Human Rights Commission, No. 79285-7-I, 2019 WL 5951541 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2019).

When a person comes to SOCR with a complaint of discrimination by a place of public accommodation, they are called the Charging Party.¹⁹ A Charging Party who disagrees with SOCR's finding that there is "no reasonable cause" that discrimination occurred may appeal the finding to SHRC.²⁰ If SHRC affirms SOCR's findings, a Charging Party "may appeal the order on the record to an appropriate court."²¹

SOCR and SHRC are authorized by ordinance,²² and SHRC is governed by Seattle's Administrative Code, SMC Chapter 3.02.²³ SHRC is not a "state agency" under the Washington Administrative Procedure Act, RCW Chapter 34.05, which defines "agency" as "any *state* board, commission, department, institution of higher education, or officer, authorized by law to make rules or conduct adjudicative proceedings . . ."²⁴ Appeals made under Chapter 34.05 are limited to "judicial review of agency action."²⁵

The Court of Appeals held that Holmes had sought judicial review in King County Superior Court under the Administrative Procedure Act,

¹⁹ Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) 14.06.050.

²⁰ SMC 14.06.090.

²¹ *Id*.

²² SMC 3.14.090 and SMC 3.14.920.

²³ SMC 3.02.020.

²⁴ RCW 34.05.010(2), emphasis added.

²⁵ RCW 34.05.510.

and because that act does not apply to City of Seattle agencies, the Superior Court did not err by dismissing Holmes' administrative appeal. The Court of Appeals properly cited *Riggins v. Housing Authority of Seattle* in its holding that the Washington Administrative Procedure Act does not apply to local agencies, and *Seattle Newspaper-Web Pressman's Union Local No.* 26 v. Seattle²⁸ in holding that SHRC is a local agency. Holmes does not argue that the court's citation to these cases is incorrect or that any other published decision is inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

Instead, Holmes argues that the Superior Court has inherent jurisdiction to hear an administrative appeal under Article IV, Section 4 of the Washington State Constitution. The constitutional authority for Superior Courts is Article IV, Section 6, which grants the Superior Court "such appellate jurisdiction in cases arising in justices' and other inferior courts in their respective counties as may be prescribed by law."

Holmes cites no authority for the proposition that this grant of jurisdiction extends to decision-making bodies that are not "inferior courts." Article IV, Section 6 grants the superior court jurisdiction to hear

²⁶ Holmes v. Seattle Human Rights Commission, No. 79285-7-I (Nov. 12, 2019).

²⁷ Riggins v. Housing Authority of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 97, 101, 549 P.2d 480 (1976).

²⁸ Seattle Newspaper-Web Pressman's Union Local No. 26 v. Seattle, 24 Wn.App. 462, 467, 604 P.2d 170 (1979).

²⁹ Holmes v. Seattle Human Rights Commission, No. 79285-7-I (Nov. 12, 2019).

constitutional writs of *certiorari* relating to non-judicial decisionmakers.³⁰ Holmes did not petition the Superior Court for a constitutional writ of *certiorari*.

An appeal of a decision by a board or commission that is not a petition for a constitutional writ is appropriately made as a writ of review under RCW Chapter 7.16.³¹ A statutory writ is nearly identical to an appeal.³² Both the statutory writ and constitutional writ were available to Holmes, and he availed himself of neither.

Instead, Holmes filed an appeal under RCW Chapter 34.05. RCW 34.05.510 grants Superior Courts the authority to hear appeals from cases originating from decisions by state administrative agencies, not local agencies.³³ The Court of Appeals held that since a City of Seattle agency is not a "state agency," the APA does not provide the appeal process and the Superior Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction.³⁴

To support his position, Holmes cites cases that do not involve administrative appeals. Rather, he cites to cases that address the states'

³⁰ Pierce County Sheriff v. Civil Service Commission of Pierce County, 98 Wn.2d 690, 658 P.2d 648 (1983).

³¹ RCW 7.16.040, See King County v. Carter, 21 Wn.App. 681, 687, 586 P.2d 904 (1978).

³² Federal Way School Dist. No. 210 v. Vinson, 172 Wn.2d 756, 768, 261 P.3d 145 (2011).

³³ RCW 34.05.510, RCW 34.05.010(2).

³⁴ Holmes v. Seattle Human Rights Commission, No. 79285-7-I (Nov. 12, 2019).

authority to grant appeal rights,³⁵ the availability of transcripts for indigent criminal defendants,³⁶ non-claim tort statutes,³⁷ implied waiver of appeal rights,³⁸ and cost bonds in tort cases.³⁹

B. Holmes' Petition does not raise a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

Holmes has not raised a legitimate issue under constitutional principles, let alone one that is a "significant question of law." Without any legal authority, Holmes argues that different appeal processes for public accommodation cases under state and local laws violates his right to equal protection. Holmes fails to show that this difference implicates his right to equal protection.

Holmes does not assert that the process in SMC Chapter 14.06 has an uneven effect on a suspect class, a semi-suspect class, or a fundamental right. He simply asserts that there is "no reason" for different appeal processes and acknowledges that a "rational basis" test is appropriate.⁴⁰ Under a "rational basis" test, a statute is presumed to be constitutional and a party challenging the law on equal protection grounds bears a heavy

³⁵ McKane v. Durston, 153 U.S. 684, 14 S.Ct. 913, 38 L.Ed. 867 (1894).

³⁶ Griffin v. Illinois, 351 U.S. 12, 76 S.Ct. 585, 100 L.Ed. 891 (1956).

³⁷ Hunter v. North Mason High School, 85 Wn.2d 810, 539 P.2d 845 (1975).

³⁸ State v. Sweet, 90 Wn.2d 282, 581 P.2d 579 (1978).

³⁹ Peterson v. State, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983).

⁴⁰ Petition for Review, p. 10.

burden to show that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.⁴¹ A party challenging the law must show that the law's different treatment of similarly situated people is purely arbitrary.⁴²

SMC 14.06.090 grants Charging Parties an appeal process following a finding of No Reasonable Cause and an order affirming the decision from the Seattle Human Rights Commission.⁴³ This appeal process provides for judicial review. This right is conferred on Charging Parties even though they also have a private right of action that exists independent of SOCR's findings.⁴⁴ It is notable that this appeal right is conferred to Charging Parties even though they are in no way encumbered or restricted by SOCR's decision.

SHRC provides a different process than the one available for complaints under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD).⁴⁵ This difference exists because WLAD provides an appeal right to charging parties⁴⁶ that relies on Washington's Administrative Procedure Act, which does not apply to Seattle departments and agencies. Holmes has a right to judicial review under SMC Chapter 14.06 and he has not met his burden to

⁴¹ State v. Shawn P., 122 Wn.2d 553, 560-561, 859 P.2d 1220 (1993).

⁴² State v. Coria, 120 Wn.2d 156, 171-172, 839 P.2d 890 (1992).

⁴³ SMC 14.06.090.

⁴⁴ SMC 14.06.040(C).

⁴⁵ RCW Chapter 49.60.

⁴⁶ RCW 49.60.270.

show that the difference between SMC 14.06.090 and RCW 49.60.270 is purely arbitrary.

Holmes also argues that SMC 14.06.090, is "too vague." Presuming he is raising a challenge that the section is void for vagueness, his challenge fails. The principle of "vagueness" relates to procedural due process and examines prohibitions on conduct rather than mitigation factors or procedural matters.⁴⁷ Statutes are presumed to be constitutional and the burden of showing impermissible vagueness beyond a reasonable doubt rests on the party challenging the statute.⁴⁸

Holmes has not cited any authority that supports his position or any analysis showing that a procedural provision like SMC 14.06.090 is void for vagueness. The cases he cites discuss probation conditions, ⁴⁹ a criminal "sexual motivation" designation, ⁵⁰ and an employer's grooming rules. ⁵¹ Holmes does not explain how these cases relate to his claim that SMC 14.06.090 is "too vague."

C. Holmes' claim regarding the Court of Appeals' tenancy in One Union Square does not satisfy any of the standards of RAP 13.4(b) and was not raised below.

⁴⁷ Hi-Starr, Inc. v. Washington State Liquor Control Bd., 106 Wn.2d 455, 465, 722 P.2d 808 (1986).

⁴⁸ City of Seattle v. Shepherd, 93 Wn.2d 861, 865-866, 613 P.2d 1158 (1980).

⁴⁹ State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).

⁵⁰ State v. Halstein, 122 Wn.2d 109, 857 P.2d 270 (1993).

⁵¹ EEOC v. Catastrophe Management Solutions, 852 F.3d 1018 (11th Cir. 2016).

Holmes claims that Division One of the Washington Court of Appeals should not have heard his appeal because it involved "a dispute between Pet. and that Court's own Landlord, One Union Square Building/Washington Holdings, LLC." Holmes did not raise this issue in the appeal below⁵³ and made no motion on the subject before the Commissioner or Judges of the Court of Appeals.

One Union Square LLC and Washington Holdings LLC were not parties to Holmes' appeals, as his appeal concerned the order of the Seattle Human Rights Commission. Holmes complained in each of his briefs below that the Court of Appeals' presence at One Union Square was a barrier to his participation, however he presents no evidence showing that it interfered with his participation in the case. The decision was rendered without oral argument,⁵⁴ and Holmes never made any motion regarding his access to the court nor on the subject of the Court of Appeals' impartiality because of its location. The one hearing at which the City appeared and Holmes failed to appear resulted in an order for additional briefing.⁵⁵

-

⁵² Petition for Review, p. 11.

⁵³ In briefing below, Holmes complained about the Court of Appeals' location in One Union Square and the relationship between that fact and his underlying complaint to SOCR, however he did not raise the issue of whether it was proper for the Court of Appeals to hear the case.

⁵⁴ Ruling of the Commissioner of the Court of Appeals dated October 17, 2019.

⁵⁵ Appendix 10, Court of Appeals Notation Ruling dated January 4, 2019.

D. Holmes' complaint regarding the \$200.00 filing fee is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Holmes argues that the \$200.00 filing fee required to file his Petition was "improperly imposed." He does not argue that the filing fee meets any standard of RAP 13.4(b). He cites no authority supporting his argument that the fee was improper. Holmes did not make any motion to the Court of Appeals on this issue and he also appears to have paid the fee, rendering his argument about the fee's propriety moot.

E. If the Supreme Court accepts review, the Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision that the Superior Court's order of dismissal was appealable as a matter of right.

The Court of Appeals held that the Superior Court's order of dismissal was appealable as a matter of right pursuant to RAP 2.2(a)(1).⁵⁷ The court stated:

[b]ecause appeals from final judgments in APA actions are treated as any other appeal of a superior court final judgment, the superior court's decision dismissing Holmes' action constitutes a final order that he may appeal as a matter of right.⁵⁸

The Superior Court's dismissal of Holmes' appeal was not appealable as a matter of right under RAP 2.2(a), and the Court of Appeals'

⁵⁶ Petition for Review, p. 11.

⁵⁷ Holmes v. Seattle Human Rights Commission, No. 79285-7-I (Nov. 12, 2019).

⁵⁸ *Id.*, p. 5.

holding conflicts with *Coballes v. Spokane County.*⁵⁹ In *Coballes*, the Superior Court denied a petition for a writ of review and the Court of Appeals held that the Appellant was not entitled to an appeal as a matter of right.⁶⁰ The Appellant in *Coballes* pursued the incorrect kind of appeal in Superior Court by filing a Petition for writ of review instead of an appeal under RCW Chapter 36.32.⁶¹ The court analyzed the issue of whether the Appellant was entitled to review as a matter of right by analyzing which form of review would apply to the administrative appeal Ms. Coballes *should* have filed rather than the petition for a writ she *did* file.⁶²

The case at bar is the reverse of the *Coballes* facts: Holmes filed an administrative appeal when he should have petitioned for a writ. Had the Appellant applied for a statutory writ of review and been denied, he would not be entitled to an appeal as a matter of right because a review by the Court of Appeals of a Superior Court decision on a writ of review is discretionary.⁶³ If the Court of Appeals had applied the rationale of the *Coballes* court, it would have viewed the case as a failed writ of review and properly held that Holmes' case was appealable as a matter of discretion.

⁵⁹ Coballes v. Spokane County, 167 Wn.App. 857, 274 P.3d 1102 (2012).

⁶⁰ Coballes at 867-868.

⁶¹ Coballes at 868.

⁶² Id

⁶³ Seattle v. Williams, 101 Wn.2d 445, 456 680 P.2d 1051 (1984); Alter v. Issaquah District Court, 35 Wn.App. 590, 591, 668 P.2d 609 (1983).

V. CONCLUSION

SHRC respectfully asks this Court to deny Holmes' Motion for Discretionary Review because Holmes failed to establish that the Court of Appeals' decision and the questions presented in the Petition satisfy any of the standards required by RAP 13.4(b).